
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 
 

Policy Overview 
Committee 

 
 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
 

Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor E Ben Moussa 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor K J Grehan 
 

Councillor P M Harman 
Councillor G R Holt 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor E E Palmer 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor K Stealey 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 

 
 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 
 

Tuesday 14 June 2022 
 

 
at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

(6 June 2022) 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
AGENDA 

 
Tuesday 14 June 2022 

 
  
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 To receive any declarations of interest from Members including the 

terms of any Grant(s) of Dispensation by the Audit Board or the Chief 
Officer & Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 

 
3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 

on 15 March 2022 (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 
4. Urgent Items   
 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 

urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

 
5. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   
 There are presently no references from other Committees for 

Members to consider. 
 

 

 
6. Regulation 9 Notice [Forward Plan] (Pages 7 - 10)  
 To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice [Forward 

Plan] for the period 13 May 2022 to 30 September 2022.  
 

 

 
7. Health Care Provision Update (post Pandemic)   
 To receive updates/presentations from representatives of the 

Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust, the Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Health & Care Partnership NHS Kent & Medway CCG, and 
the HCRG Care Group (formerly Virgin Care). 
 

 

 
8. Committee Annual Report 2021-22 Municipal Cycle (Pages 11 - 

42) 
 

 To receive a report on the work of the Committee during the 
preceding municipal year. 
 

 

 
9. 2022-23 Work Plan Update (Pages 43 - 46)  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L 
 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 15 
March 2022 at 7.00 pm 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor D J Reynolds (Substitute) 
 
Mrs. Trish Chapman, Dartford Tenant’s & Leaseholder’s 
Forum (Observer) 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor K J Grehan 
 

 
Dartford Borough Council Officers 
 

 Caroline Hicks – Director of Growth & Community 
 Kashmir Powar – Health Team Lead 

 
29. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brown, Burrell, 
Currans, Garden (Substitute Cllr D Reynolds) and Cllr. Grehan. 
 
The Committee passed their best wishes to Cllr. Grehan and expressed the 
hope that her husband would soon regain his health. Apologies had also been 
received from the Community Services Manager due to ill health. 
 
The Chairman welcomed Mrs. Trish Chapman, representing the Council’s 
Tenant’s & Leaseholder’s Forum, and noted the presence of the Director of 
Growth & Community and the Health Team Lead to present her annual 
update report. 
 

30. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations made at this juncture. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 MARCH 2022 

2

31. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 14 DECEMBER 2021  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 14 
December 2021 be confirmed as accurate. 
 

32. URGENT ITEMS  
 
The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for the Committee to 
consider. 
 

33. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other Committees for Members to consider. 
 

34. REGULATION 9 NOTICE [FORWARD PLAN]  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice [Forward 
Plan] for the period 15 February 2022 to 30 June 2022. 

 
35. DARTFORD HEALTH INEQUALITIES ACTION PLAN AND ANNUAL 

REPORT 2020-21  
 
The Chairman informed Members that, despite the best efforts of Council 
Officers, representatives of the Kent & Medway CCG and the HRCG Care 
Group [successor body to Virgin Care Ltd.] had, on further consideration, 
declined to update the Committee that evening. 
 
Both bodies had cited ongoing structural changes within their organisations, 
allied to the absence of final confirmed operating plans for the 2022-23 fiscal 
cycle to present to Members, as the principal reasons for their absence. 
However, both bodies had undertaken to fully brief the Committee in June. 
The Chairman had accepted the last minute deferment in the interests of 
maintaining good relations with both bodies. 
 
As a consequence, the confirmed update from the Medical Director of the 
Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust, Dr. Stephen Fenlon had also been 
deferred to June, to enable Members to consider the efforts of all three health 
care service providers together, as in previous years. 
 
The Clerk confirmed that following receipt of apologies from Cllr. Brown, no 
Cabinet Member was expected to attend the POC proceedings that evening. 
 
The Chairman suggested that the unfortunate absence of NHS and HRCG 
Care Group representatives afforded Members the opportunity to consider in 
greater detail, the Annual Health Inequalities 2020-21 Annual Report and 
Action Plan, than had perhaps been the case in previous years.  

Page 2Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 MARCH 2022 

3

 
He proposed that Members first consider the Case Studies at Appendix B to 
the report, then the Action Plan at Appendix A. He asked the report author 
Kashmir Powar, Dartford Health Team Lead to give Members some 
background to the various Dartford Preventative Projects being delivered to 
residents by her team under the Action Plan.   
 
Kashmir Powar informed Members that she was a nutritionist by profession 
and prior to leading the Council’s Health Care Team of 1 full-time and 1 part-
time ‘One You Kent’ Health Advisors, had previously worked as  a health care 
facilitator in Dartford.  The Health Team was employed by the Council, but 
externally funded by KCC’s Public Health Directorate via an annual grant. 
 
The report informed Members that the Dartford Health Care Action Plan 
delivered a range of preventative health projects, as part of a Service Level 
Agreement between KCC jointly with Dartford and Sevenoaks Councils since 
2008. The shared arrangements with Sevenoaks District Council had come to 
an end in December 2020, and the DCB Health Team was now managed 
within the Council’s Growth & Community Services Directorate. Projects 
included healthy weight programmes, promotion of mental wellbeing and 
community cohesion, as identified and prioritised in the Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action Plan (2016-18), which had been adopted by Cabinet on 21 
January 2016 [Min. No. 12 refers].  
 
The onset of the Coronavirus Pandemic in 2020 had delayed the updating of 
the existing Action Plan, but doing so remained a priority for both the Council 
and KCC in 2022. It was expected that a future Action Plan for Dartford would 
concentrate on the same/similar identified priorities against updated health 
data sets, including the impact of the Pandemic. Priorities within the existing 
Action Plan continued to be delivered as detailed in the Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report 2020/21 (attached as Appendix A to 
the report). Evidence and case studies for the period under review were 
attached at Appendix B to the report. The Dartford Team’s work continued to 
be monitored on a quarterly basis with outcomes submitted to the KCC Public 
Health Directorate, in addition to the annual progress report to the Committee.  
 
In response to a variety of subsequent questions from the Chairman and 
Members, the Health Team Lead confirmed the following principal points for 
the Committee in relation to her report and Appendices: 
 
Case Studies (Appendix B refers)  
 

 Quantile [Agenda p.22]: the term used to assess a specific area in 
terms of social deprivation. Quantiles 1 and 2 denoted areas of the 
highest social deprivation. In the Dartford context,  Swanscombe and 
Temple Hill were assessed as being in Quantile 2; 

 KSAS (Kent Support & Assistance Service):  The KCC service helped 
residents in serious difficulties managing their income due to a crisis , 
or, facing exceptional pressures because of an emergency e.g. COVID. 
A KSAS referral form had to be filled out by a Team member for each 
client (resident) to secure KCC funding; 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 MARCH 2022 

4

 Arndale House [agenda p.23]: mental health care facility based in 
Spital Street, Dartford. When an application is being considered for a 
client, the Health Team check with Arndale House to see if the client 
has an allocated mental health care worker with whom they can liaise. 
The Team’s relationship with Arndale had been particularly important 
during the pandemic and periods of lockdown when clients with mental 
health issues had surged; 

 CGL [agenda p.23]: Change, Live, Grow – offers structured support to  
residents in Dartford & Gravesham who are struggling with drug and/or 
alcohol abuse issues and wish to stop their dependency/use and 
considered a key partner by the Team. Residents may either self-refer 
or via the Dartford Health Team member; 

 IMAGO [agenda p.24]: key social prescriber service for residents 
experiencing mental health of general wellbeing. A range of services 
are provided by Live Well Kent & Medway on behalf of KCC and the 
NHS; 

 An unexpected outcome of the Pandemic, as part of the Council’s 
response to COVID-19 for Dartford residents, had been a concerted 
client contact programme by the Health Team to better gauge the 
needs of Dartford residents, including re-establishing contact with 
previous clients which had lapsed; 

 Clients employment status would be added to future Case Studies; 
 Onus was on the individual client to create goals for their ‘recovery’ 

during the 12 week programme in their conversations and meetings 
with the Team. Programmes were themed to encourage clients to talk 
about their obesity, alcohol/drug abuse, and mental health problems, to 
identify solutions and goal-setting which clients had to ‘buy into’. 
Discussion of alcohol intake levels were generally addressed by clients 
in week 6/7 of their programme. Programmes were re-active, designed 
for clients with existing problems to help encourage self-change. To 
effect positive changes in behaviour, interventions had to be made at 
the earliest possible stage, and dependent on KCC funding were 
expanded pro-actively whenever possible; 

 The Pandemic had had an enormous detrimental impact on the Team’s 
disadvantaged client base, with the impact for clients with mental 
health issues particularly severe, imposing a strain on the Team’s 
current compliment of Lead, 1 full-time and 1 part-time (2 days per 
week) ‘One You’ advisers. 

 
Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report (2020-21) 
(Appendix A refers) 
 
In response to further specific questions from the Chairman and Members 
concerning Appendix A to her report, the Health Team Lead confirmed the 
following principal points for the Committee: 
 

 It was difficult to both define so-called ‘health inequality’ and measure 
progress against it once identified, given that measurable outcomes 
were only possible several years down the line. The Health Team could 
only address the needs of the clients who applied; 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 MARCH 2022 

5

 During the Pandemic and subsequent periods of Government 
lockdown, GP referrals to the Team had increased markedly, in 
particular for both the traditionally deprived and more affluent areas of 
Dartford. The Pandemic had also identified the increased needs of 
those with learning difficulties, and increased health dangers to the 
BAME (black, Asian, and minority ethnic) community, and KCC funding 
for both cadres within Dartford had been increased; 

 KCC figures for GP referrals in Quarter 3 of the period under review 
were 81 mostly from Quartiles 1 and 2, with a further 80+ referrals 
expected for the final quarter. Specific numbers would be provided to 
the Committee (via the Clerk) when available; 

 Client response via remote delivery platforms had been poor during the 
Pandemic highlighting Dartford’s digital poverty. KCC funding for 
remote delivery had come too late pre-lockdown, had improved 
subsequently, but face-to-face consultations via telephone and now 
increasingly in-person, remained the most successful modus-operandi 
with Dartford clients. KSAS funding forms had been completed by 
telephone during the Pandemic and now face-to-face in the Civic 
Centre, Zoom/Teams inter-action with clients did not work in Dartford; 

 An increase in GP provision in the Borough would not [in and of itself], 
be a universal panacea for solving ‘health inequality’ in Dartford. The 
causes were varied and complex for individual clients with weight 
management the single largest factor. However, the combination of 
debt, poor housing and drink/drug abuse, deprived home and social 
environments, all combined to result in poor outcomes for clients. The 
One You Kent programme, deliberately adopted a holistic approach to 
encourage clients towards healthier outcomes on an individual basis; 

 The present level of KCC funding for the Dartford Health Team was an 
impediment to expansion, however, the retention of the current Team 
complement had proved difficult, with one resignation in the period 
under review. The role of listening and empathising with clients on a 
daily basis was both difficult and demanding;    

 The next Action Plan would be updated [by defining ‘low income’] in 
terms of helping clients with their heating bills [agenda pages 33/34 
refer]; 

 National Leisure Recovery Fund [agenda p.38 refers]: a breakdown of 
the funding awarded to Swanscombe Leisure Centre (£48,089.52) was 
not to hand, but would be provided by the Leisure & Communities 
Officer for distribution to Members via the Committee Clerk. Cllr. 
Butterfill informed the Committee that she was a Board Member of the 
Swanscombe Leisure Centre; 

 The Elders Forum had been largely in abeyance during the Pandemic 
and lockdown. Following the sad passing of Cllr. Allen in November 
2021, Cllr. Thurlow would be taking matters forward as the new 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder.   

 
The Chairman thanked the Health Team Lead for her 2020-21 Annual Update 
report and asked that the Committee’s thanked be passed on to her team. 
 
  RESOLVED; 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 15 MARCH 2022 

6

1. That Members note the report and appendices. 
 

36. DRAFT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2022-23  
 
Members agreed the following changes to the draft Work Plan attached at 
Appendix A to the report: 
 

 June 2022: receive deferred NHS presentations from March, cancel 
proposed Update on Council Open Spaces, defer holistic report on 
Ebbsfleet Ward, Peninsular and Garden City Development to 
September; 

 September 2022:  add holistic report on Ebbsfleet Ward, Peninsular 
and Garden City Development; 

 December 2022: add report on Management of Council Open Spaces; 
 March 2023: retain as tabled. 

 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members approve the draft Work Plan at Appendix A to the report 
with the amendments minutes above.  

 
 

The meeting closed at 7.50 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor M J Davis 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



13 May 2022 - 30 September 2022 

1 of 4

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 
 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. The reasons for going into closed 
session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader of the Council 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader of the Council and Town Centre  
Councillor S H Brown, Portfolio: Climate Change, Environment & Waste 
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Finance 
Councillor D J Mote, Portfolio: Housing 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Arts & Culture 
Councillor R J Wells, Portfolio: Community Safety & Youth 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 4 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) - Governance Arrangements 
for CIL Retained for Unparished 
Areas 
 
The Council adopted a CIL Charging 
Scheme that came into effect on 1 
April 2014.  In accordance with CIL 
Regulations the Council retains 15% 
of CIL receipts from development 
within the unparished areas of the 
Borough to support the delivery of 
infrastructure required to meet the 
needs generated by the 
development.  The unparished areas 
of the Borough covers a contiguous 
area in the west formed of all or part 
of 9 Wards and in the east Ebbsfleet 
Ward.  The report sets out proposals 
for the funding and delivery of 
infrastructure within these 
unparished areas, required to 
support development, which could 
potentially utilise the CIL funding 
retained by the Council. 
 

Cabinet 
26 May 2022 
 

  
 

Sonia Collins, Head of Planning 
Services 
Tel: 01322 343620 
sonia.collins@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

P
age 8

A
genda Item

 6



3 of 3 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Westgate and Former Co-Op Site 
Development 
 
The Collaboration Agreement, to 
provide for the town centre 
development of the former Co-Op 
site, between the Council and 
Homes England will end on 15th April 
2022. It is a condition precedent of 
the Agreement that, to enable the 
implementation of the development, 
viability shall be satisfied. Despite 
the endeavours of the parties this is 
not possible and the final viability 
position is a deficit that would require 
a level of Council funding that cannot 
be supported. 
 
Upon expiry of the Collaboration 
Agreement It is proposed that the 
Council will seek to acquire the 
former Co-op site from Homes 
England, subject to Contract, 
Valuation and negotiation to support 
best consideration. The Council 
would then take a Freehold interest 
which, along with the existing 
adjacent landholding, will allow it 
overall control to lead a plan to 
develop the site as a housing-led 
scheme of a quality and density 
which is appropriate to this key town 
centre site. 
 

Cabinet 
26 May 2022 
 

  
 

Caroline Hicks, Director of 
Growth & Community 
Tel: 01322 343405 
caroline.hicks@dartford.gov.uk 
 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6



4 of 4 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
investment Plan 
 
The Government has announced an 
allocation of £1m for the Council 
from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF). In order to access this 
funding, the Council will need to 
submit an investment plan detailing 
how the monies will be spent and the 
priorities it will address, by the 
deadline of 1 August. This report will 
therefore present the investment 
plan for Cabinet’s approval. 
 

Cabinet 
21 Jul 2022 
 

  
 

Sarah Martin, Chief Officer & 
Director of Corporate Services 
Tel: 01322 343632 
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
14 June 2022 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 
 
 
 
1. Summary 
 

To consider the work carried out by the Policy Overview Committee during the 
preceding 2021-22 municipal year as set out in Appendix A to the report. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the draft annual 
report on the Committee’s work undertaken in the 2021-22 municipal year 
(attached as Appendix A to this report) be submitted to Cabinet. 

 
 
 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
The Committee’s Protocol (Appendix C attached), states that the Committee 
will receive an annual report on its work. A draft annual report on the work 
undertaken by the Committee during the preceding 2021-22 municipal year 
(Appendix A attached), is submitted for Members’ consideration and approval 
as appropriate. 
 
The Committee met in person on four occasions in the period under review, 
following the ending of the Government’s Emergency COVID legislation 
governing the conduct of local authority meetings during the Pandemic.   
 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan (2021-23) 
 
 The Committee’s Work Plan is guided by the Council’s Corporate Plan (2021-

23).  
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

 
Financial Implications None 
Public Sector Equality Duty None 
Climate Impact Assessment None 
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 

6. Appendices 

Page 11 Agenda Item 8



  
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

14 June 2022 
 
 

 

 
Appendix A – draft Policy Overview Committee Annual Report 2021– 2022; 
Appendix B – Committee Terms of Reference (April 2021); 
Appendix C – Committee Protocol (2021) 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File 
Ref 

Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

POC 
Protocol, 
ToRs and 
Minutes of 
meetings 
July 2021 – 
March 2022  

May   
2022 

 D Hook 
01322 343276 

Democratic 
Services/ Chief 
Officer & Director 
Corporate 
Services 

N/A 

Page 12Agenda Item 8



    

 

 

     APPENDIX A 

 

 

POLICY OVERVIEW 

COMMITTEE 
 

 

Draft Annual Report 2021 - 2022 

 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 8



2 

1. BACKGROUND and INTRODUCTION 
 

The Policy Overview Committee (POC) was established at the Annual 
Meeting of the Council on 25 May 2011 to take forward the work previously 
undertaken by the Quality Services Committee, and prior to that by the Best 
Value Review Committee.  
 
The newly formed POC’s Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) reflected 
the Committee’s revised role to scrutinise the policies governing the delivery 
of Council services; including the alignment of Council services with those 
being delivered by partner organisations; to better ensure that those services 
were being delivered effectively and to bring any concerns to the attention of 
Cabinet as appropriate.  
 
Following the relaxation of Government lockdown measures to combat the 
Coronavirus Pandemic, the Committee was able to meet in person on four 
occasions in the 2021-22 municipal cycle under review, in accordance with its 
Terms of Reference as summarised in its Protocol to:   
 

 Assist Cabinet with policy review and development with the ultimate 
aim of improving the delivery of services to local people; 

 Work with partner organisations for the benefit of the community as a 
whole, and to periodically examine matters which are not the 
responsibility of the Council e.g. health care provision in the Borough; 

 Review the impact of decisions taken and made.  
 

The work carried out by the Committee complements the work carried out by 
the Scrutiny Committee and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee, as defined in their respective Protocols. The emphasis of the 
POC’s work ensures that it focuses its attention at a policy level, rather than 
on individual service related indicators for performance. 
 
The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to Cabinet annually on the work 
it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This report provides a 
summary of the Committee’s work undertaken during the 2021-2022 
municipal cycle. Comprehensive details of the Committee’s work in the period 
under review are contained in the published minutes of their meetings 
available on the Council’s public website.   
 
2. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2021-22 
  
The Committee’s Work Plan (WP) is traditionally driven by the Council’s 
Corporate Plan, but can also include the review of other areas identified by 
Cabinet on request, and any items identified by political groups represented 
on the Committee on an ad-hoc basis (draw-downs).  
 
In the 2021-22 municipal year the Committee’s Work Plan was initially guided 
by the Council’s existing Corporate Plan (2017-2020) document, which had 
been retained per force during the Pandemic. Following the ending of the 
Government’s lockdown measures in July 2021 and the return to in-person 
working arrangements for local government, the Committee’s Work Plan was 

Page 14Agenda Item 8



3 

informed by the Council’s new Corporate Plan (2021-2023) document as 
agreed at its meeting on 14 September 2021 (Min. No. 16 refers).   
 
 
Committee Meeting of 27 July 2021  
 
Item 1: Management of Council Open Spaces [Min. No. 7 refers] 
 
The Committee considered a report from the Waste and Parks Manager 
(WPM) which updated Members on various issues regarding the Council’s 
management of its open spaces. The Lead Member for Parks, Open Spaces 
& Heritage, the Director of Housing and Public Protection also attended to 
respond to Members questions and concerns. 
 
The Chairman had requested the report for consideration by the Committee in 
its overview capacity, and in (to his knowledge) of any previous review of the 
topic in the past decade. He had also become increasingly conscious of the 
importance of easy access to parks and open spaces to the public during the 
preceding 18 months of Government lockdown and social distancing 
measures to combat the Pandemic. Members discussed the following aspects 
of the wide-ranging topic in detail: 
 
Management & Publicity 
 
The Lead Member for Parks & Open Spaces informed the Committee that he 
held regular monthly meetings with the Parks & Open Spaces Manager, the 
Waste & Parks Manager as senior manager in overall control of the 
maintenance of the Council’s Parks and Open Spaces, and with Cllr. Thurlow 
as the responsible Cabinet Portfolio Holder over park issues and upcoming 
events. All park amenities and special events were regularly publicised 
including on the Council’s website. Members sitting on the Council’s Friends 
of Hesketh Park, Darenth Country Park and Dartford Heath Joint Liaison 
Group bodies, also ensured that their Ward residents were kept up to date, 
including via pamphlets informing them of upcoming meetings and topics.  
 
Members were advised by the WPM that the day-to-day management of the 
Council’s parks and open spaces was undertaken by the Park Rangers in the 
Council’s Parks and Open Spaces team, and any issues of anti-social 
behaviour addressed jointly with the Council’s Enforcement team and other 
relevant Officers in the Council’s Community Safety Unit. Incidents of arson at 
Dartford Heath, which traditionally increased during the summer months, were 
addressed by the two Countryside Rangers within the Council’s P&OS team, 
in liaison with the Kent Fire & Rescue Service and Kent Police. 
 
With regard to publicising the Council’s parks and amenities, Members were 
advised by the WPM that the Council’s policy had been passive in recent 
years with the exception of Central Park, with its varied activities and events 
widely publicised including on the Council’s website [periods of lock-down 
excepted]. Regarding performance, he informed Members that there was no 
formal rating system in place to assess the Council’s management of its parks 
and open spaces. Central Park was the Council’s ‘flagship’ venue and had 

Page 15 Agenda Item 8



4 

established itself as both a highly successful Dartford venue and an attraction 
to neighbouring communities and across Kent.  
 
Members supported the WPM in his assessment of the success of Central 
Park which had drawn considerable praise both within and outside the 
Dartford community in recent years. The cricket and bowls club facilities in 
Darenth Park were also praised, and proposals to overhaul the tennis courts 
in that park and the Green Gym facilities in Central Park noted. 
 
The Director of Housing and Public Protection informed Members that he had 
recently undertaken a comprehensive tour of all the Council’s parks and open 
spaces as part of his new portfolio. His tour had enabled him to better 
appreciate a number of ‘hidden gems’ in the Council’s collection, which he 
proposed to advertise for resident’s benefit. 
 
Dartford Marshes 
 
In response to Member concern over anti-social motor bike usage in the 
Marshes [and Bob Dunn Way], the WPM advised the Committee that Dartford 
Marshes was co-owned by 21 different persons and responsibility for 
individual areas of the Marsh and its misuse was, as a consequence, difficult 
to monitor and manage. The Council’s Enforcement Team took the lead with 
the co-operation of Kent Police, but the Council had no dedicated budget for 
the Marshes, and owner co-operation in combating such activities was 
traditionally difficult to secure.  
 
Dartford Heath 
 
Members were advised by the WPM that historically, some 30-40 incidents of 
arson were reported on the Heath each year during the summer months, with 
school children identified as primarily responsible for the majority of incidents. 
Kent Fire & Rescue Service (KFRS) gave talks at schools in the area to 
dissuade pupils and warn them of the significant dangers of arson. The Heath 
benefitted from fire-breaks throughout which had been constructed by the 
Council with the full advice and co-operation of the KFRS. Regarding the 
perceived construction of an ‘illegal’ BMX bike circuit on the Heath and 
Council liability for injured riders, the Waste & Parks Manager reminded 
Members that the Council was responsible for the Heath but did not own it.  
 
Members resolved to note the report and thank the Director for Housing & 
Public Protection and the Waste & Parks Manager for attending and 
responding to the Committee’s questions. 
 
Item 2: Committee Annual Report for the 2020-21 Municipal Year 
 
The report and appendices summarised the work undertaken by the 
Committee in the preceding 2020-21 municipal year. 
 
The Committee Co-ordinator was thanked for his report and support of 
Members throughout a particularly challenging municipal cycle for both 
Members and Officers which, the Chairman noted, had still included some 
significant highlights including; a decrease in vehicle emissions and pollution 

Page 16Agenda Item 8



5 

levels [Air Quality Annual Status Report 2020], the Council’s attainment of the 
highest litter detection rate amongst Kent authorities, and becoming the first 
Kent Council to impose £400 fines for littering and/or the use by residents of 
unlicensed carriers to dump waste illegally.  
 
Members resolved to note the report for presentation to Cabinet. 
 
   
Committee Meeting of 14 September 2021  
 
 
Item 1: Draft Corporate Plan (2021-2023) [Min. No. 16 refers] 
 
Members considered a draft Corporate Plan (2021-2023) document, from the 
Communities Manager, prior to submission to Cabinet for approval. The draft 
Plan provided the focus for the Council’s proposed work during the remainder 
of the 2021-22 and the next annual municipal cycle, and took into account the 
Council’s primary role to deliver high quality services to local residents and 
businesses, and its key role in the regeneration of the Dartford area.  
 
The draft 2021-23 Corporate Plan retained the themes set out in the previous 
2017-2020 Plan [extended during the Pandemic until July 2021], with minor 
adjustments to the 5 principal themes of; Housing, Regeneration, 
Development and Economic Prosperity, plus an additional theme of ‘A Council 
Performing Strongly’. The new Plan had been limited to a 2 rather than 3 year 
cycle, to allow for the impact of the Pandemic and ‘Brexit’ to be fully assessed 
in the short to medium term. Following those assessments, an extended 5 
year Corporate Plan would be constructed covering the period 2024-2029.  
 
The Committee identified several points in the draft Plan for further 
consideration by Cabinet which the Communities Manager undertook to note 
and reflect in a final Corporate Plan (2021-23) document for approval by 
Cabinet in October including:  
 

 Revised wording for Housing and New Developments to make clear the 
difference between the Government’s and the Council’s housing 
targets and aspirations;  

 Highlight existing poor rural bus service provision to Dartford, in 
particular Swanley and West Kingsdown and pursue with KCC as the 
responsible authority; 

 Consider proposals for greater protection of Dartford’s Greenbelt, other 
than the Council’s Development Control Board which only considered 
planning applications on a case by case basis [under the overall 
provisions of the Local Plan for Dartford]; 

 Consider measures to increase Dartford’s waste recycling performance 
[one of the lowest in Kent], and give further consideration to the 
addition of a food re-cycling service with the Council’s  contractor 
Urbaser;  

 Consider provision of larger re-cycling bins and/or the provision of 
additional re-cycling sacks; 

Page 17 Agenda Item 8



6 

 Consider further infra-structure measures to meet the needs of 
Dartford’s major new housing developments projects, in particular the 
Ebbsfleet Garden City development; 

 Re-examine all Energy Efficiency Schemes and proposals to address 
the continuing threat of climate change.  

 
 
 Item 2: Food Security Policy (FSP) [Min. No. 17 refers] 
 
 
The Committee considered an update report from the Communities Manager 
which recorded progress to date on the development of the Council’s Food 
Security Policy (FSP); following the decision by the General Assembly of the 
Council on 14 December 2020 [Min. No. 117 refers]; that the Policy Overview 
Committee oversee the production of that policy. Development of the FSP 
was being led by Cllr. Tom Oliver, Lead Member for Equalities, Cohesion and 
Society (with special responsibilities for Food Security).  
 
Members were informed that the Council had undertaken a number of 
initiatives consistent with the Government’s National Food Strategy as set out 
in DEFRA’s 2020 published report and recommendations including; the 
funding of the food banks across the Borough, provision of emergency food 
parcels which had led to the creation of the Dartford Food Larder, in 
conjunction with the Healthy Living Centre. The Council had also provided 
food aid to those unable to afford food, including a food delivery service to 
distribute food from the Fairshare charity of unsold supermarket produce. In 
addition, during the height of the Pandemic and periods of Government Lock-
Down, the Council had set up an Emergency Hub to help sign-post people to 
various services. That Hub had closed, but the sign-posting role had been 
retained by the Council’s Customer Services team [accessed via the main 
Council switchboard number]. The Council had also provided funding to the 
Citizen’s Advice Bureau to provide financial advice to those suffering 
hardship, and to issue food and fuel vouchers.  
 
The Council recognised the need for a cohesive FSP strategy and the 
formulation of a Food Policy Plan, to ensure best practice was established 
and expanded with co-ordinated services, and to ensure that any future 
Government funding was secured.  A questionnaire had been sent to local 
organisations to record their experiences to help their client bases, but the 
response to date had been poor. The impact of the Pandemic and the 
subsequent recovery phase for the bodies concerned were undoubted factors, 
and Officers were examining alternative methods of engagement with the 
sector, to enable the views of those outside bodies to be represented in the 
Council’s Food Policy Plan going forward. 
 
The Lead Member for Equalities, Cohesion and Society supported the 
Communities Manager in his comments and commended the report to the 
Committee. He also asked that the efforts of his predecessor, former 
Councillor and Lead Member Calvin McLean, be noted for the record.  
 
 
  

Page 18Agenda Item 8



7 

 
Item 3: Work Plan Review [Min. No. 18 refers] 
 
Members considered a report and updated Committee Work Plan from the 
Committee Co-ordinator for the remainder of the 2021-22 municipal year.   
 
The Chairman proposed that the scheduled update reports on the Council’s 
Recycling and Environmental Enforcement Services be dropped, but the 
update on Litter Services [December 2021] retained and the addition of an 
update report on the Council’s policies to deter fly-tipping. He also proposed a 
holistic report to encompass all previous concerns expressed by Members 
regarding the Swanscombe Ward, including the Ebbsfleet Garden City 
development and its infrastructure needs.  
 
Members noted the report and updated Committee Work Plan to include the 
Chairman’s further proposals. 
   
 
Committee Meeting of 14 December 2021 
 
Item 1: Dartford Air Quality Update Report 2021 [Min. No. 25 refers]  
 
The Committee considered a report from the Council’s Scientific Officer which 
provided Members with information on pollution levels across the Borough 
and within the four (4) declared Air Quality Management Areas, together with 
an update on the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP). The Council’s Air 
Quality Annual Status Report was attached at Appendix A to the report, with a 
Supplementary Air Quality Monitoring Report 2021 attached as Appendix B for 
Members’ information. 
 
The Chairman noted in the wider context, that the report had recorded an 
improvement in Dartford’s air quality during 2020-21, including during the 
period prior to the first COVID-19 lockdown measures being imposed. Those 
measures had served to help improve air quality levels in the Borough further, 
given the reduction in vehicle emission levels as a consequence of the 
Government’s ‘Work from Home’ policy. In concluding his initial comments, he 
emphasised the high profile nature of the topic and encouraged all Members 
to take the opportunity to feed into the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan 
(AQAP) going forward.     
 
The Scientific Officer acknowledged that the majority of the report and 
appendixes had covered the 2020 calendar year and up to September 2021. 
The table format in the ASR was a prescribed DEFRA document which was 
more user-friendly on-screen than in print. Figures for the number of electrical 
vehicle (EV) charging points in the Borough were not available, but planning 
applications for new build properties had to include EV charging points.  An 
upscale of EV charging points was also planned for the Council’s car parks in 
the New Year. 
 
Members received a verbal update from the Waste & Parks Manager (WPM) 
on the Council’s tree planting policy. Dartford already had a significant number 
of trees (not all on Council land), which had been increased by the recent 

Page 19 Agenda Item 8



8 

orchard tree planting initiatives in Hesketh and other Council parks totalling 
some 125 new trees in 2021. Planting of a further 300 trees was proposed in 
2022 as part of the Queen’s Green Canopy event in Council parks to 
commemorate Her Majesty’s Platinum Jubilee. The WPM advised Members 
that tree planting was costly, both in terms of initial purchase and the labour-
intensive aftercare required to ensure new trees flourished in the long-term. 
That high cost had to be set against the need to manage existing woodland, 
including thinning overgrown areas such as Darenth Wood, where less trees 
rather than more planting was required. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Scientific Officer for his 2020-21 annual report, the 
Waste & Parks Manager for his verbal update on the Council’s tree planting 
scheme to date, and the Director of Housing & Public Protection for clarifying 
points of overall policy for Members, who resolved to note the report and 
support the Council’s new Air Quality Action Plan going forward. 
 
Item 2: Litter & Environmental Enforcement Update [Min. No. 26 refers] 
 
Members received a report from the Enforcement & Regulatory Services 
(EARS) Manager, which updated the Committee regarding the operating 
effectiveness of the Council’s policies to combat environmental crime (fly 
tipping and littering) offences in the Borough, together with an overview of the 
systems and processes in place to deliver those policies. Appendix A to the 
report summarised the Council’s performance for the period April 2018 to 
October 2021 in terms of crimes recorded and measures taken to combat 
environmental crime (EC). 
 
The Chairman thanked the EARS Manager for an excellent report and 
comprehensive appendix recording locations, investigations and outcomes for 
environmental crime (EC) committed in the Borough in the period under 
review. He praised the pro-active efforts of Council and LA Support (Kingdom) 
officers to combat offences at known hot spots, including the new hi-spec 
CCTV camera installation at Birchwood Road. He also welcomed the 
increased breakdown of data for fines issued, which helped Members to 
identify offence rates in their individual Wards. 
 
The EARS Manager reminded Members that the investigation and 
prosecution of EC offences remained a discretionary local authority service in 
Dartford, and that the Council had been a trail-blazer in the field of combating 
EC both in the Kent county and wider national context. Specifically, Dartford 
had been the 1st local authority to implement fixed penalty notices (FPNs) for 
low level fly tipping offences, including ‘Duty of Care’ FPNs for the use of 
illegal/unlicensed refuse carriers, and the imposition of waste contract 
arrangements on local businesses.  
 
Ultimate success for the Council’s policies was defined as a significant 
reduction in offences, which had already been achieved. Increased signage 
and CCTV camera capacity had acted as significant deterrents to potential 
offenders, and had benefitted the Council in reputational terms with residents. 
In terms of the appropriate prosecution and punishment of EC offenders; the 
Council had been instrumental in the formation of a ‘Pan Kent’ intelligence 
network to prevent and deter fly tipping, and had achieved successful 

Page 20Agenda Item 8



9 

prosecutions through enhanced information sharing and combined operations 
with Kent Police. BBC and ITV coverage of the Council’s new CCTV camera 
operation had enhanced the Council’s reputation further, and led to several 
local authorities seeking advice from the Council’s Enforcement Manager to 
help guide their own EC operations. A further and increasing deterrent to 
offenders had been the Council’s development of a ‘Publicising Environmental 
Crime, Criminal Behaviour Orders, Verdicts and Sentences Policy’, which the 
Council’s Media & Communications team had used to publicise successful 
enforcement outcomes and prosecutions, including the ‘naming and shaming’ 
of prolific offenders.  
 
Members resolved to note the report and congratulated the EARS Manager, 
the Enforcement Manager and his team, together with LA Support (Kingdom) 
operatives, on a highly successful performance to combat environmental 
crime (EC) in the period under review. 
 
 
Item 3: Update on Council’s Food Security Action Plan [Min. No. 27 
refers] 
 
Members considered an update report from the Communities Manager for 
comment and approval of the Council’s Food Security Action Plan (2022-
2025) document, attached as Appendix A to the report. 
 
Members noted the continued low take-up rate in the Dartford community for 
Healthy Start Vouchers [only 54%], and agreed the need to better publicise 
their availability going forward in a renewed outreach programme in the 
community to include; leaflet drops at GP Surgeries, verbal promotion by 
Councillors in their Wards, identification and targeting of new Groups, Walk-In 
programmes by the Council’s Health Team Leader, advertising at the Sikh 
Temple Ladies Group (Wednesdays) and the Sunday ‘Feed the Homeless’ 
event. Consideration of a Parish Council Leader’s Initiative programme was 
also mooted. 
 
Members were advised that the Communities Manager and the Lead Member 
had held regular meetings with the voluntary sector, the DWP and Food 
Banks, to help formulate an overall Food Security Policy for the Borough since 
the last report to the Committee. Sadly, engagement by these sectors and 
potential partners had continued to be poor, but would be pursued, together 
with a publicity drive to advertise Healthy Start Vouchers as proposed by the 
Committee.  
 
Members resolved to note the report and Food Security Action Plan 2022-25 
document.  
 
 
Item 4: Committee Work Programme & Plan 2021-22 [Min. No. 28 refers] 
 
Members approved an updated Work Plan for the remainder of the 2021-22 
municipal cycle, including a proposal by the Chairman to call for update 
reports on Adult Social Care and new GP provision across the Borough at the 
next meeting of the Committee [March 2022].  

Page 21 Agenda Item 8



10 

   
Committee Meeting of 15 March 2022  
 
Given the emerging after-effects of the Pandemic and the need for NHS 
bodies to concentrate on the backlog of non-COVID medical services which 
had been adjourned during lock-down, the traditional March update reports 
from the Dartford & Gravesham Trust and the Dartford & Gravesham CCP 
were postponed until the June meeting of the Committee. 
 
Item 1: Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report 2020-21 
[Min. No. 35 refers] 
 
Members considered a report from the Council’s Health Team Leader which 
updated the Committee on the progress achieved by the Dartford Preventative 
Health Projects (DPHPs) against the priorities identified in the Health 
Inequalities Action Plan for the 2020-21 financial year [Appendix A to the 
report], with Evidence and Case Studies attached at Appendix B to the report. 
 
The Council’s Health Care Team Leader and her physical training instructors, 
operated under the auspices of the Council’s Communities Manager, and was 
funded by KCC as part of the ‘One You Kent’ health initiative to promote 
healthy lifestyles and tackle unhealthy behaviours in the community. She 
advised Members that the Government’s lock-down measures, in response to 
the Coronavirus pandemic during the previous 12 month period, had brought 
nearly all planned DPHP activity to a halt, given the face-to-face nature of the 
those initiatives.  
 
Item 2: Committee Work Programme & Plan for 2022-23 [Min. No. 36 
refers] 
 
Members agreed a draft Committee Work Plan for the ensuing 2022-23 
municipal year, to be reviewed at subsequent meetings in that cycle. 
 
David Hook 
Democratic Services  
 
May 2022

Page 22Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX B 
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L 

ANNUAL MEETING  
28 April 2021 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS 

OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference] 
 
Chairman:  Councillor M J Davis 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor M I Peters 
Membership:  Councillors E H Ben Moussa, S H Brown, J Burrell, S P 

Butterfill, L A Canham, R M Currans, B Garden, K J Grehan, 
R A S Jones,  D T Nicklen, T Oliver, J A Ozog, A Sandhu 
MBE, and Mrs R F Storey. 

 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference] 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS: 
 

1. The Overview Function 
 
(1) Without prejudice to the role and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards etc, to 

review general policies of the Council and to recommend accordingly to the Cabinet on 
future policy options. 

 
(2) To seek views from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of the 

effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions. 
 
(3) To hold policy reviews and make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or the GAC in 

accordance with the Committee’s Protocol. 
 
(4) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to assist the Cabinet and/or the GAC in the 

development of future policies and strategies. 
 
(5) Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input from 

Councillors (including Cabinet members), Officers, Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum, 
other interested stakeholders and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of 
constituents’ views. 

 
(6) To gather information and make recommendations in accordance with the Committee’s 

Protocol to the Cabinet and/or the GAC before policy is implemented as part of the 
framework for accountable, transparent decision-making. 

 

Page 23 Agenda Item 8



(7) To carry out reviews of non-Council matters and as part of the community planning 
process, consult with partner organisations where appropriate and make 
recommendations to the Cabinet in relation to matters which are not the direct 
responsibility of the GAC, but which nevertheless affect the economic, environmental and 
social well-being of the Borough. 

 
(8) To consider and investigate broad policy issues and make reports and recommendations 

to the Cabinet and/or the GAC in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol.  
 
(9) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to provide advice to the Cabinet and/or the 

GAC on major issues before final decisions are made. 
 

(10) To receive the views and recommendations of area/joint committees or forums as part of 
any review which impacts on the Borough. 

 
(11) To be consulted/receive referrals by the GAC and/or the Cabinet about issues falling within 

the remit of the Committee, example Cabinet requesting an enquiry into a particular issue. 
 
(12) To approve an annual overview work programme in accordance with Standing Order 58(8) 

including the programme of any subcommittee appointed by the Committee to ensure that 
there is efficient use of the Committee’s (sub-committee’s) time and that potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised. 

 
(13) To review the Cabinet’s forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, forthcoming 

Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to review. 
 
(14)  To carry out reviews of how certain decisions have affected a particular community or area 

by taking advice from area committees or forums and other community groups and 
representatives. 

 
2. Service Delivery 
 

To consider new approaches to service delivery and recommend to the Cabinet 
demanding performance targets for services, so as to deliver continuous improvements 
which reflect both national and local considerations including; 

 
(a) Challenging why and how a service is being provided; 

 
(b) Securing comparison with the performance of others across a range of relevant 

indicators, taking into account the views of both service users and potential suppliers; 
 

(c) Consulting local taxpayers, service users, partners and the wider business community 
in the setting up of new performance targets; 

 
(d) Considering fair competition as a means of securing efficient and effective services 

 
(e) To make recommendation(s) to the Cabinet on suitable performance 

information/indicators. 
 
3. Overview of Health Functions 

 
To review any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health service 
in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public Health, Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

 

Page 24Agenda Item 8



4. Discussion/Consultation Papers 
 

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated with 
the functions of the Committee in accordance with the consultation procedure.

Page 25 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO1 

 
 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the overview role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities. 
 

  
Terms of Reference To assist the Cabinet with policy review and development with the ultimate 

aim of improving the delivery of services to local people. 
 

 To work with partner organisations for the benefit of the community as a 
whole and from time to time to examine matters which are not the 
responsibility of the Council e.g. health care provision in the Borough. 
 

 To review the impact of decisions and policy. 
 

  
Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the 

 Council (the GAC); 
 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time. 

 
  
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the Council's 
functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to ensure that the 
Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act unlawfully. 
 

  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 
 Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of the Strategic 

and Policy Framework; 
  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 

operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp the 
power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 

 
  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 

within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) on 
technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

 
  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 

name; 

Page 27 Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO2 

 
  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 

unnecessarily repetitive review activities. 
 

  
Membership Committee membership may include no more than one Cabinet member. 

 
  

The Overview Process  

The review of any matter: 

(a) relating to the provision of and/or delivery of  Council services to the local community; 

(b) in which the Council has an interest, subject to the Council being in a position to reasonably 
 influence the outcome for the benefit of the local community; 

(c) which has an adverse impact on the delivery of Council services, 

but excluding crime and disorder related matters. 
  
1.What may be 
reviewed 

 

1.1 Council policy development and budgetary framework [on the request of the 
GAC or Cabinet]; 

1.2 local improvement targets (other than crime and disorder);  
 

1.3 decisions/actions of key local public service providers; 
 

1.4 performance of the Council  in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
 

1.5 the planning, provision, operation and performance of public 
bodies/organisations  including local health services, subject to the Council 
being in a position to reasonably influence the outcome for the benefit of the 
local community; 
 

  
 

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of reviewing decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the review of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation 
 

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 
 
� through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 

Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council; 
 

� through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
� through the Chairman of the Committee. one item only for any other 

Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served 
basis’. 

 
 

 

Page 28Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO3 

  
A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 

down for review purposes, no more than five items in total.  These five items 
may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a review of 
decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, local improvement targets, health 
service body etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the Committee is 
restricted to the review of five items in total, per Committee meeting. 

 
 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear 
days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on 
which the meeting is held). 

 
 (b) The need (if any) for participants to appear before the Committee will be 

notified to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wishes to review an item for the purposes of examining 

the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post implementation, 
drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future date.  

 
 NB: The focus of the review in such circumstances will be concerned with 

the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any background 
document before the Committee. 

 
A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 

the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance with 
section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion of the 
item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right of the 
Political Groups to sum up. 

 
A.6 
 

 

 

 

 

A.7 
 

Although the Policy Overview Committee and Scrutiny Committee have 
different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Policy Overview 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs.  
 
 
The  relevant Director  will make the final decision on the rejection of a draw 
down, with reasons recorded in writing.  In the absence of the relevant 
Director, the other Director will make the final decision. 
 

  

Page 29 Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO4 

  
B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written notice 
to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 
 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
  the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 

information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

  if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol); 

 
  provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely topics 

to be raised on the item(s); 
 

  provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the purposes 
of putting questions to participants. 

 
B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will as appropriate, 

notify the relevant Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  Where 
the request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the relevant 
Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the 
day on which the meeting is held).   
 

B.4 Information will be depersonalised or redacted, unless the identification of an 
individual is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to 
properly exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 2018.   

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc. 
 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach of 
confidence actionable by any person. 
 

Page 30Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO5 

B.7 
 

 

 

 

B.8 
 

 

 

 
 
B.9 
 

 

 

 

Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972, as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential 
information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee. 
 
The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 
To facilitate the overview process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended)) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).   
 

 
 

C. Health Service 
Review 
 

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor have 
the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended); 

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local Healthwatch 
contractor; 

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006. 

C.1 The Committee may review any matter relating to the planning, provision and 
operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.21(1) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

C.2 When reviewing the planning, provision and operation of the health service, 
the Committee must: 
 
 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013) and 

 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, relevant 
information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 

 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 
must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer informed 
of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 

 
C.3 

 

 

The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

Page 31 Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO6 

 

C.4 

 

 

 

 

C.5 

 

 

C.6 

 

 

 

C.7 

 

 

 

C.8 

 

 

 

 

C.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol, 
the Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of a 
Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer questions 
(reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 
 
The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 
include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and 
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed. 
 
Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the request 
(reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to the 
health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
 
In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section C.5 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

Page 32Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO7 

  
  
  
  
D. Participants  
 
D.1 

 
The nature of the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic under 
review will generally determine who participates in the proceedings of the 
Committee. 
 

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned  
 
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the giving 
of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided as to 
the nature and scope of the review: 
 

 Cabinet members and Council Officers 
 
Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend Committee 
meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or answer questions 
((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000). 
 

 Health Service review 
 
A representative or employee of the Responsible Person may be required to 
attend Committee meetings to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions in accordance with section C.4 of this Protocol. 
 
 

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and assessors to 
assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 
 

 

 

 

D.5A 

 

Councillors who are not members of the Committee  
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the Committee. 
 
 
Lead Members 
 
Subject to sections D.7(a) and S.6 of this Protocol, Lead Members may be 
requested (but cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on their respective portfolios.  
 

Page 33 Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO8 

D.6 

 

The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of a 
participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these circumstances, 
Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman accordingly. 
 

 
D.7 Participation Rules 

 
(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 

participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the discretion 
of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer participants, within the 
discretion of the relevant  Director. 

 
 
 (b) Subject to para.(a) of this section D.7 and section S.6 of this Protocol, 

any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee and with the 
consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer questions or 
give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant portfolio. 

(c) The relevant  Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers to 
above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure that 
junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction is 
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

(d) The Chairman or Vice-Chairman and Shadow Chairman (or nominee in 
the Shadow Chairman’s absence) (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or relevant 
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a named 
Cabinet member/Lead Member(s) and Council Officer(s), and 
representative of a Responsible Person, or relevant body as participants 
in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written notice to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the Committee 
meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held). 

(e)  Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
 investigation will not be called as participants. 

(f) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the Compliance 
Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(g) and (h) below.  
Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of their particular 
issues. 

(g) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that the 
question may be answered in private session. 

(h) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would be 
entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any question 
relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not be 
answered without acknowledging or referring to possible inappropriate 
conduct/actions/inactions. 

(i) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 
their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence. 

Page 34Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO9 

(j) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

  
 (k) Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 
 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 

 
 (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 

policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 
 

 (l) Participants may be asked explain and justify; 

  advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
 

  decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 
Cabinet etc. 

 
 NB: As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for Officers 
to be politically neutral. 

 

E. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A of this Protocol, any 
Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 21A(1) 
Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the Committee’s 
functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving written notice 
to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before a 
Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  

 

Page 35 Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO10

F. The duty to have  
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

F.1 
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee may 
recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made it.  

F.2 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 

F.3 
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond to 
its Overview Report and/or recommendations in accordance with section C.5 
of this Protocol. 

 

G. Regulatory bodies 
 

 

G.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 
development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet. 
 

G.2 The Committee will not review individual decisions made by the Committees, 
Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s regulatory functions 
(the Regulatory Bodies).  Review of decisions of Regulatory Bodies is clearly 
not an alternative to normal appeals procedures.  However, the Committee 
may make reports and/or recommendations to the GAC relating to the 
discharge of any Regulatory Body’s functions. 
 

G.3 Review of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted to 
one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply.  
 

  

Page 36Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO11

H. Work programme 

H.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are not 
members of the largest political group on the Council. 

H.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

H.3 
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

H.4 
The Committee will respond as soon as its work programme permits to 
requests from the GAC and/or the Cabinet to review particular areas of 
Council activity.  Such requests/referrals may include a policy review study 
before the Cabinet formulates its policies for submission to the GAC for 
approval.  Reviews on the grounds of priority or emergency (example an 
announcement during the course of the municipal year or government policy 
or other initiative requiring early attention) may also be the subject of a 
referral from the GAC and/or the Cabinet. 
 

H.5 
In referring items for consideration by the Committee, the GAC and/or the 
Cabinet will identify the philosophy/reasoning behind the referral and will 
endeavour to provide the Committee with all relevant information on the 
subject matter under review. 
 

J. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

J.1 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may invite 
independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the overview 
process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups. Independent 
experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights.  These persons 
will be regarded as invitees only and will not count for the purposes of 
establishing a quorum. 

J.2 The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the Responsible Person. 

 
J.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply with 

the principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

J.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

J.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

Page 37 Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO12

J.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 
 vires and propriety of expenditure; 
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 

NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 

   

K. Overview reports  
and/or 
recommendations 

 

K.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the local Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and the 
Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports. 
 

K.2 The Overview Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the review exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 
K.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Overview Report. 
 

K.4 The Overview Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body. 

K.5 Where the Committee requests a response, the ‘relevant body’ is under an 
obligation to consider the Overview Report and/or recommendations and 
respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably possible) 
of the date of the Overview Report, in accordance with F. of this Protocol. 

K.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of a ‘relevant body’, attend its 
meeting and present the Overview Report and answer questions. 

K.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) who 
expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, refer a 
'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and provided 
they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the 
matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to attend the 
body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

 

Page 38Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO13

  

K.8 If at all possible, Overview Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ within 
a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the Overview 
Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the Committee's 
Overview Report/recommendations will be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s 
agenda. 
 

K.9 Only one Overview Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

K.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant body' 
either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the case may 
be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that the 
Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

K.11 Overview Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 
Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment. 

K.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  

L. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

M. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

M.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and including 
(iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in accordance with 
Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet, Officers and local 
health service bodies i.e. NHS Foundation trust etc.; 

 
  local health service related issues; 

 
  

Page 39 Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO14

  
  MAA economic strategy action plans; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 

functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Policy Overview Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 
M.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 

the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

M.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 (Delegation 
of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of Delegations to 
Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

M.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

M.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards and 
Panels of the Council. If an overview/review investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
relevant Director. 
 

M.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any overview/review investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary 
to defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

M.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

N. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

N.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

N.2 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules detailed 
in Standing Order 15. 
 

  

Page 40Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO15

P. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working groups 
 

 

P.1. Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups will 
be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally 
 

P.2 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated with overview (which is the preserve of the 
Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may contribute to or 
inform the review process. 
 

P.3 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

P.4 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the evidence 
gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings will involve 
different skills from those required by traditional committee meetings.  The 
task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group members are 
clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the opportunity to 
pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary questions if 
necessary. 
 

P.5 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; and 
written submissions from participants.  

 
P.6 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

P.7 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  The 
draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group Chairman 
before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the relevant Director for 
comment. 
 

P.8 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or the 
relevant Director. 
 

  
P.9 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations to 

the relevant body i.e. local health service, GAC and/or Cabinet, etc. with a 
note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate. 
 

P.10 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

  
Q. Sub-committees  
Q.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees. 
 

Q.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated with the 
overview function. 
 

Page 41 Agenda Item 8



13 Apri 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO16

  
R. Monitoring agreed 
actions 

 

R.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the Council, 
Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will be 
monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually. 
 

R.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

S. Declarations of  
interest 

 

S.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

S.2 Representatives from local health service body, other partners and 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct.  
 

S.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

S.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the interests 
at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests become apparent 
to them.  
 

S.5 The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of the Scrutiny Committee (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions 
and/or proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy 
themes and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications 
for the policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to the rules 
detailed in section S.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and Lead 
Members who have been directly involved in policy development, may 
participate in the Committee’s policy development and/or review work.   
 

  

S.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol any 
Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) with a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may not take 
part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public gallery to 
observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  

T. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 
 

Page 42Agenda Item 8



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

14 June 2022 

COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2022-23 [JUNE 2022] 
 

1. Summary 
 
1.1 At the last meeting of the Committee on 14 March 2022 [Min. No. 36 refers], 

Members’ agreed a Work Plan for the ensuing 2022-23 municipal year, subject 
to review at subsequent meetings in the cycle.   

1.2 The updated Work Plan attached as Appendix A to this report, reflects those 
discussions for Members’ further consideration and approval as appropriate.  

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That Members’ note the updated 2022-23 Work Plan for the remainder of the 

current 2022-23 municipal year [Appendix A attached].   

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1 Under the terms of the Committee’s Protocol, Members are required to agree 
a Work Plan for the ensuing municipal year to be reviewed at subsequent 
meetings in the cycle. 
 
3.2 A Work Plan for the remainder of the 2022-23 municipal year is attached for 
Members consideration, together with any proposed additions and/or 
amendments.  
 
3.3 Following approval by Cabinet of the 2021-23 Corporate Plan [Min. No. 16 
refers], Performance Monitoring reporting will resume from June 2022, with the 
first results of that exercise presented to Cabinet and the Committee for noting 
from September 2022 onwards.  
 
 4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications  None 
Legal Implications  None  
Public Sector Equality Duty  None  
Staffing Implications  None 
Administrative Implications  None  
Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints 
Climate Impact Assessment N/A 
 

Page 43 Agenda Item 9



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

14 June 2022 

 
  

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendix A – Updated Committee Work Plan for the remainder of the 2022-
23 municipal cycle.  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

2021-22  
Work Plan, 
Committee 
Minutes for 
March 2022  

June 
2022 

David Hook 
(01322) 343276 

Democratic Services/ 
Head of Paid Service 
& Director of 
Corporate Services 

 
N/A 

Page 44Agenda Item 9



 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

2022-23 Committee Work Plan [June 2022] 
 

June 2022 September 2022 December 2022            March 2023 

Health Care Provision Update 
[post Pandemic] 

Air Quality Annual Status 
Report 2022 

 

Environmental Enforcement 
Update 

 
Annual Update from Health 
Care Providers – DGS HCP, 
D&G NHS Trust and KCC 
Adult Care 
 

Committee Annual Report for 
2021-22 Municipal Year 

Food Policy Update & Action 
Plan 

Annual Litter Services Update 
Update from West Kent 

CCG’s MHSC&YP Team 

Updated  2022-23 Work Plan 
Holistic report on Ebbsfleet 
Ward, Peninsula and Garden 
City Development     

Annual Recycling Services 
Update 

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects Annual Report 2022-
23 

   Regulation 9 Notice 

  
Performance Monitoring  
 

Update on Management of 
Council Open Spaces 

 
Draft  Work Plan 2023-24   
Municipal Cycle & Beyond 

   Regulation 9 Notice          Performance Monitoring Regulation 9 Notice 

 

 
Review Work Plan Regulation 9 Notice 

 
Performance Monitoring 

 

 
 Review Work  Plan 

 
 

 

 
  

 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 9



 

 

 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 9


	Agenda
	at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 15 March 2022
	Minutes

	6 Regulation 9 Notice [Forward Plan]
	8 Committee Annual Report 2021-22 Municipal Cycle
	BACKGROUND PAPERS
	Appendix A dh. FINAL A.R. 2021-22
	Appendix B PolicyOverviewTOR
	28 April 2021
	POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
	[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]
	Membership: 	Councillors E H Ben Moussa, S H Brown, J Burrell, S P Butterfill, L A Canham, R M Currans, B Garden, K J Grehan, R A S Jones,  D T Nicklen, T Oliver, J A Ozog, A Sandhu MBE, and Mrs R F Storey.

	POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
	[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

	Appendix C Policy Overview Committee Protocol  13 April 2021

	9 2022-23 Work Plan Update
	Appendix A POC WP Update JUNE 2022


